ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 5, 2002
8:02 a.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Representative John Coghill, Chair
Representati ve Jeannette Janes
Representati ve Hugh Fate
Representative Gary Stevens
Representative Peggy W I son
Representative Harry Crawford
Representati ve Joe Hayes

VEVMBERS ABSENT
Al l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO 361

"An Act relating to pilot pay progranms to attract and retain
exceptional state enployees; and providing for an effective
date."

- HEARD AND HELD

HOUSE BI LL NO. 344

"An Act increasing fees for driver's |licenses, instruction
permts, and identification cards; and providing for an
effective date."

- HEARD AND HELD

HOUSE BI LL NO 331

"An Act relating to appointnent of persons to positions that
require confirmation by the legislature; and providing for an
effective date.”

- BILL HEARI NG POSTPONED TO 2/ 12/ 02
PREVI QUS ACTI ON
BILL: HB 361

SHORT TI TLE: PI LOT PAY PROGRAM FOR STATE EMPLOYEES
SPONSOR( S): REPRESENTATI VE( S) KOTT

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -1- February 5, 2002



Jrn-Date Jr n- Page Action

01/ 28/ 02 2079 (H) READ THE FI RST TI ME -
REFERRALS

01/ 28/ 02 2079 (H) STA, FIN

01/ 28/ 02 2079 (H) REFERRED TO STATE AFFAI RS

02/ 05/ 02 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 102

BILL: HB 344
SHORT TI TLE: | NCREASE DRI VER S LI CENSE FEES
SPONSOR(S): RLS

Jrn-Date Jr n- Page Action

01/ 18/ 02 2008 (H READ THE FI RST TI ME -
REFERRALS

01/ 18/ 02 2008 (H STA, FIN

01/ 18/ 02 2008 (H REFERRED TO STATE AFFAI RS

02/ 05/ 02 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 102

W TNESS REG STER

LI NDA SYLVESTER, Staff

to Representative Pete Kott

Al aska State Legislature

Capi tol Buil ding, Room 204

Juneau, Al aska 99801

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HB 361 and HB 344 on behal f of
t he sponsor.

DAVE STEWART, Personnel Manager

Di vi si on of Personnel

Departnent of Adm nistration

PO Box 110201

Juneau, Al aska 99811-0201

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 361.

JANET CLARKE, Director

Di vision of Admi nistrative Services

Department of Health & Social Services

PO Box 110650

Juneau, Al aska 99811-0650

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified on HB 361 in support of the
cooments of the Dvision of Personnel; di scussed market
pressures and conpetition for certain job classifications.

BRUCE LUDW G, Manager

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 2- February 5, 2002



Al aska Public Enployees Association/Arerican Federation of
Teachers ( APEA/ AFT)

211 Fourth Street

Juneau, Al aska 99801

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Spoke on behalf of APEA/ AFT regarding HB
361 and the inportance of collective bargaining.

MARY MARSHBURN, Director

D vision of Mtor Vehicles

Departnent of Adm nistration

3300B Fairbanks Street

Anchor age, Al aska 99503

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Qutlined the benefits and advantages of
digital licensing and answered questions on behalf of the
di vi sion regardi ng HB 344.

MARK MEW Deputy Chi ef

Anchor age Pol i ce Depart nent

Muni ci pality of Anchorage

PO Box 196650

Anchor age, Al aska 99519

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified regarding HB 344; discussed what
digital licensing would do for |aw enforcenent in general and
for the Anchorage Police Departnent in particular.

DEL SM TH, Deputy Commi ssi oner

O fice of the Conm ssioner

Department of Public Safety

PO Box 111200

Juneau, Al aska 99811-1200

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Answered questions on behalf of the
departnent in regard to HB 344.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

TAPE 02-5, SIDE A
Number 0001

CHAIR JOHN COGHI LL called the House State Affairs Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 8:02 a.m Representati ves Fate,
Stevens, WIson, Crawford, Hayes, and Coghill were present at
the call to order. Representative Janes arrived as the neeting
was in progress.

HB 361- Pl LOT PAY PROGRAM FOR STATE EMPLOYEES

Nunmber 0042

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 3- February 5, 2002



CHAI R COGHI LL announced the first order of business, HOUSE BILL
NO. 361, "An Act relating to pilot pay progranms to attract and
retain exceptional state enployees; and providing for an
effective date.”

Nunber 0114

LI NDA SYLVESTER, Staff to Representative Pete Kott, Al aska State
Legi sl ature, presented HB 361 on behalf of Representative Kott,
sponsor . She stated that the pilot pay program was introduced
at the request of the Departnent of Adm nistration. She read
fromthe sponsor statenent, as follows:

The bill provides options for the State of Alaska in
its efforts to recruit and retain in-demand workers.
Al aska's current ... state enployee pay plan is based
entirely on a job classification system that 1is
defined in law by the principle of "like pay for I|ike
wor k. " This system serves the state well in
mai ntai ning pay equity, but it doesn't allow the state
to respond to the current conpetitive job market.

This legislation authorizes the Personnel Board to
adopt regulations defining pilot pay programs for

positions that a state agency has difficulty filling,
as wel | as recogni zi ng excepti onal enpl oyee
per f or mance. Payments made under this legislation
woul d not be considered "base pay," nor is it included
in retirenment cal cul ations. Any HB 361 bonuses woul d
not be a part of collective bargaining during the
pilot pay period. Further, the departnents nust

absorb the expenses within their budgets.

MS. SYLVESTER noted that the pilot pay program options include
paynent of a recruitnment bonus; “"excellence bonuses” and
retenti on bonuses; or other bonuses or incentives that the board
determines will help a state agency conpete for high-denmand job
fields or for enployees who perform exceptionally. She
continued reading fromthe sponsor statenent:

Last year the Al aska Legislature passed HB 242 - the

retiree return - which partially addressed the issue
of critical skill or know edge | oss t hr ough
retiremnent. To date, 64 valuable retirees have
returned to work ... for 26 enployers statew de. Now,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -4- February 5, 2002



the State of Alaska seeks an additional tool in order
to maintain a high-quality, public-enployee workforce.

M5. SYLVESTER noted that the pilot pay program would sunset on
July 1, 2007.

Number 0351

DAVE  STEWART, Per sonnel Manager, D vision of Per sonnel ,
Departnent of Admnistration, canme before the conmttee in
support of [HB 361]. He said the division produced a third-
quarter workforce profile in January, based on executive-branch
enpl oyee statistics effective the close of business, Decenber
30, 2001. Based on those nunbers, he noted, 6 percent of the
wor kforce was eligible to retire immedi ately. Fives years from
that date, another 16.7 percent of the workforce wll be
eligible to retire, he added. M. Stewart said nearly 200 job
classes are reported by hiring managers and state agencies as
difficult to fill because of inability to offer a conpetitive
salary. He reported the follow ng statistics:

In the next five years, 90 percent of the state
correctional superintendents wl| be eligible to
retire, 81 percent of the public safety I|ieutenants,
64 percent of the natural resource nanagers, 60
percent of the supervisory (indisc.-coughing) nurses.
50 percent of the ships' masters for the Al aska Marine
Hi ghway Systemw ||l be eligible to retire

Number 0554

MR, STEWART affirmed that he would provide a witten copy of the
statistics. He then continued:

30 percent of the eligible nurses will be able to
retire within five years. The state |aw requires that
the state pay plan follow the premse of "like pay for
| i ke work." That neans that simlar work is paid the
sanme, no matter where that work occurs.

Internal equity, that is, aligning job classes by the
"like pay for like work," is the basis out of which
sal ari es are assi gned t hr oughout t he state's
classification system Maki ng market adjustnents,
adjusting for conpetitive pressures and mar ket
salaries, requires that the entire class of "like
wor k" be adjusted, and there are job classes in that

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 5- February 5, 2002



broad base of work that may or may not be experiencing
(indisc.) equipnent problens.

MR. STEWART stated that the proposed bill provi des sone
flexibility in responding to a changing narket. He nentioned
pressures in addressing the retention of critical job skills and
j ob know edge. He defined recruitnment bonuses, nentioned in M.
Sylvester's testinony, as "a onetine paynent as incentive to
accept enploynent with the State of Al aska.™

MR. STEWART explained that the bill envisions a retention bonus,
which he defined as "a single or multiple paynment to current
enpl oyees with needed job skills or skill "sets' in order to get
themto stay with the State of Al aska,"” at |east |ong enough to
train soneone to take another's place.

Number 0625

MR. STEWART defined the excellence bonus as "a paynent to reward
state enpl oyees who perform beyond nornal expectations, or whose
performance is exceptional on mssion-critical projects or
work." He paraphrased his witten testinony, which read:

This proposal allows the Personnel Board to devel op
regul ati ons adopting sone, all, or other pilot
prograns ... to allow the state to nore effectively
conpete for scarce or needed job skills and know edge,
and to retain valuable skills and know edge in the
wor kpl ace.

The proposal defines pilot pay prograns adopted under
it as exenpt from collective bargaining. By retaining
control over the definitions and duration of pilot
prograns, the Personnel Board can nost accurately
assess their effectiveness. To have the pay prograns
individually bargained could cause an ineffective
program to remain active and only perhaps unused,
while preventing the adoption and trial of nore
effective prograns.

Nunber 0752

REPRESENTATI VE FATE asked M. Stewart if he knew where the State
of Alaska stood in relationship to other Wstern states
regarding pay scale "in that conpetitive area.” He added, "I
don't know that we're nonconpetitive; |1'd |like to see sone
statistics that tell ne that we're nonconpetitive."

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 6- February 5, 2002



MR. STEWART responded that [the D vision of Personnel] has
sal ary-conparison information for nurses and engineering job
cl asses, which he offered to provide.

REPRESENTATI VE FATE asked if there had been any simlar
circunstance in which this "type of crunch”" had occurred in the
past, or if it was the first circunstance. He al so asked what
M. Stewart attributed its occurrence to.

Number 0849

MR. STEWART answered that for years, the State of Al aska has
enj oyed "probably" a steady stream of applicants for nost of its
job cl asses. Sonme specialty skills, such as particular
[computer] programmng skills or those for the very technical
job classes, have required lengthy or out-of-state recruitnent.
He nentioned the constant change in technology within the field
of anal yst/programmers; he said conpetition throughout the
country for those conputer programmers, as well as for skilled
nurses and |icensed engi neers, is keener now t han ever before.

MR. STEWART reported that [the Division of Personnel] finds it
often takes six nonths to get four or five people to conpete for
a position. He reiterated that he would | eave a spreadsheet for
the commttee that shows approximately 200 job classes and their
average |length of recruitnent. He confirned that this is a new
phenonenon.

Number 0957

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked M. Stewart if he had any statistics
indicating how the previous RIP [retirenent incentive program
may have exacerbated the problem

MR. STEWART replied that he did not, but would investigate her
guesti on. He noted that [the Division of] Retirenent and
Benefits has a nunber of people who have retired under the early
incentive program and who are exenpt from the HB 242 retiree
return, but it has not done a conparison on those.

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked M. Stewart if he had noticed a
change in the nunber of openings in the specialized areas, as
opposed to jobs that merely require a high school education.
She commented that many state jobs have becone nore specialized
than in the past.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -7- February 5, 2002



MR. STEWART answered that many jobs, including local clerica
j obs, have becone nore technical, but applicants for those jobs

| ack those skills. For exanple, M. Stewart said, he began
working for the state 17 years ago as a clerk typist, and didn't
have to know Mcrosoft Ofice. Now al nost everyone from

beginning admnistrative clerks through the director needs
proficiency in that skill

Nunber 1079

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES recalled working for the State of Oregon in
the 1950s, when the incentive was benefits, rather than the
"paltry" pay. She asked how that has changed over the years and
cormented that it seens wages nust be higher than those in the
private sector in order to attract prospective enployees. She
added, "Wiere is the job security?”

MR. STEWART said there were a couple of forces at work,
identified by [the division's] own econom st and ot her
econom sts. He detailed them as follows:

One of those is the changing nature of the people
entering the workforce. Fewer people are |ooking for

that long-term security, long-term association wth
enployers, in favor of skill acquisition - learn the
skill, nove on, wuse it for soneone else, and
parlay that new skill set into higher wages.

The other is the general erosion through ... lack of

cost-of-living adjustnents and the changing nature of
the benefit plans the state offers. Fifteen, sixteen
years ago, twenty years ago, the state had one
retirement program the state had one wage base for

all its workers. Currently, there are one or two
contracts that have two-tiered wage scales. W' ve got
three ... tiers of retirement [with] varying degrees

of nedical coverage in each of those three tiers.

MR. STEWART nentioned the private sector's com ng back to single
| evel s of coverage.

Nunber 1221
REPRESENTATI VE STEVENS indicated his understanding that [the
proposed bill] was not a nmandate, but nerely a tool that could

be used by a departnent. He nentioned frequent shortages of
personnel in the Al aska Departnment of Fish & Gane (ADF&G . He

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 8- February 5, 2002



stated his understanding that COLA [cost of living allowance] is
untaxed for federal enployees. He said there are "several
i ssues out there that affect our hiring."

REPRESENTATI VE STEVENS noted that although the sectiona
analysis [in the commttee packet] deals quite a bit with the
Teachers Retirenent System (TRS), M. Stewart had not nentioned
teachers in his testinony. Representative Stevens said he
didn't know if they were included in the aforenentioned 6
percent eligible to retire. He stated his belief that [HB 361]
woul d apply to the enployees of school districts, as well as of
the University of Al aska. He asked if this bill is the only
vehicle that would allow school districts and the university to
use this kind of a bonus program

Number 1291

MR. STEWART responded that the bill, as witten, would affect
the state pay plan in Title 39, which does not cover school
districts or the University of Alaska because they are "defined
in the exenpt service."

REPRESENTATI VE  STEVENS asked why the sectional anal ysi s
repeat edl y addresses TRS.

MR, STEWART expl ained that there are enployees in the Departnent
of Education and Early Devel opnent who are nenbers of TRS.

Number 1339

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON noted that one reason for the crisis at
hand was because all of the so-called baby booners [the baby-
boom generation born between about 1947 and 1961] are retiring.
She said the reason for her own nove to Alaska nine years ago
was because the wages were so nuch better than in the Lower 48;
however, the wages in the Lower 48 have risen, but Alaska's
haven't. She asked M. Stewart who would make the decisions,
and she nentioned the need for checks and bal ances.

MR. STEWART nanmed three prograns defined in the draft: t he
recruitnent bonus, the retention bonus, and the excellence
bonus. He explained that the recruitment bonus, based on the
job class, was designed to attract applicants to state
enpl oynment, whether they be residents or nonresidents. He
conti nued:

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 9- February 5, 2002



On nom nation of a departnent's comm ssioner, or the
Personnel Board, the D vision of Personnel would
conpile a Ilist of job <classes and nonitor the
recruitnent, as we decide which job classes require
sonme incentive, or would be eligible for incentive.

In the pilot pay, ... for vacancies in those job
cl asses, agencies would be authorized to offer a
recruitnment bonus up to a maxinmum established by the

Personnel Board in ... the program whether it's 2
percent of the annual salary, 5 percent of the annual
salary - some nunber that would make the position
conpetitive. The board would then | ook at changes in
recruitnment - whether that particular recruitnent
incentive actually attracted nore applicants or
different applicants with different skill sets.

MR. STEWART turned attention to the retention bonus, which would
al so be class-based, rather than individually position-based.
Referring to nmention by Representative Stevens of ADF&G s job
classes, he said it is a noted problem He added: "There are
House chair-related and |aw enforcenment-related positions that
have the same sort of retention difficulty. Based on nom nation
of comm ssioners from those departnents, the Personnel Board
would entertain authorizing a bonus to ... those classes of
i ndi vi dual s al so."

MR. STEWART noted that the excellence bonus would be an
i ndi vi dual award based on nom nation by the conmm ssioner. The
process could be as sinple as a conmssioner's nomnating an
individual in a state agency to the Personnel Board for granting

of an award. He added, "W envisioned, however, that a peer
review - nenbers of sone of the bargaining units - would
interview noninations for service excellence and nake ... fina

recommendations to the Personnel Board for those awards, wth
limts set, or the other prograns defined by the Personnel Board
nmenbers. "

Nunmber 1578

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON asked M. Stewart how many people serve on
t he Personnel Board and how t hey are sel ected.

MR. STEWART answered that the Personnel Board is allowed up to
three nenbers appointed by the governor and confirmed by the
| egi sl ature. He estimated that the terns are five to six years
in |ength. M. Ote, who is in his second year, and M. Borg,
who is in his second or third year, currently fill two seats.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -10- February 5, 2002



M. Stewart told the commttee that during the two years he has
been with the Division of Personnel, there have been two nenbers
on the board.

Number 1643

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON commented if [the bill] passes, the board
woul d become nuch nore inportant than it has been in the past.

MR STEWART concurr ed.
Nunmber 1668

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked M. Stewart to confirm that sone
enpl oyees in Seattle work for the State of Al aska.

MR. STEWART offered his belief that there are five or six
enpl oyees in Seattle.

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked if there was any difficulty retaining
those out-of-state enpl oyees, considering they may or nay not be
in an area with "nore work or higher pay."

MR. STEWART replied that the enployees in question work at the
[ Alaska State] Ferry Terminal; he conveyed his belief that the
state is not experiencing higher turnover in that regard than
el sewhere in the state; however, no nonitoring has been done
specific to that issue.

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES comment ed that those enpl oyees do receive a
permanent fund dividend (PFD), which may be another incentive
for themto stay. [Laughter]

Nunber 1710

REPRESENTATIVE CRAWORD said he felt trepidation anytine
consideration veered away from the collective Dbargaining
process. He asked M. Stewart if he knew how the public
enpl oyees unions feel regarding this program

CHAIR COGHI LL noted that Bruce Ludwig was also available to
coment on that question.

Number 1799

MR.  STEWART responded, "The wearlier conversations wth
representatives from the bargaining wunits indicated sone

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -11- February 5, 2002



positive interest in this legislative proposal. Recently, there
were concerns about not having it collectively bargained." He
mentioned central nonitoring, rather than individual plans, and
the flexibility that a central plan offers; he suggested | ooking
at those, as well as the peer-review concept for individual
awards and the class-based concepts for other awards.

Nunmber 1823

REPRESENTATI VE HAYES indicated his understanding that there are
approximately 200 job classifications for which job recruitnent
is difficult. He asked if evaluations had been done in those
job classifications to determ ne whether [the State of Al aska]
is not conpetitive with federal jobs or other jobs out of state.

MR. STEWART answered that sone ADF&G and health care job cl asses
are known to be nonconpetitive with private-sector and federa
enpl oyers, partly because the federal COLA of 25 percent is tax-
free. Furthernore, the nature of the work tends to draw some
state enployees to nove into federal or private-sector |obs.
For exanple, private-sector construction jobs are pulling
engi neering staff from the Departnent of Transportation and
Public Facilities (DOT&F) and other departnents that hire
engi neering staff, he said. He noted that the |ike pay for like
wor k requi res broader-based sal ary increases.

Number 1913

JANET CLARKE, Director, Dvision of Admnistrative Services,
Departnment of Health & Social Services, testified in support of
the cooments of the Division of Personnel, noting that she would
di scuss market pressures and conpetition for certain job
cl assifications. She reported that one and one half years ago,
the Dvision of Admnistrative Services recognized it was
beginning to have problens in recruitnent and retention of
staff, so it engaged a contractor to execute a workforce

devel opnment pl an. Al though the plan is still in progress, the
departnment has al ready gl eaned significant information that wll
help it design its workforce for the next five years. She

offered to provide the report upon its conpletion.

M5. CLARKE said the departnment has |ooked at vacancy rates,
turnover rates, and retirement rates for several of its
positions, as well as "supply.” She quoted statistics:

The U.S. Departnent of Labor predicts that Al aska w ||
need 40 percent nore nurses over the next ten years,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -12- February 5, 2002



whi ch is about 220 nurses per year. ... The University
of Al aska graduates 60-80 nurses per year. The Al aska
State Hospital Nursing Home Association did a study in
taking into account the aging of the workforce [and]
predi cted that Al aska woul d need 400 nurses per year.

M5. CLARKE said the key problem the departnment is experiencing

is conpeting with the private sector. She nentioned a need for
nurses, particularly in public health and at APl [Al aska
Psychiatric Institute], where vacancies have resulted in
mandat ory, burdensonme overtinme for nurses. Ms. Carke noted
that although the legislature authorized a salary increase |ast
year, the departnment 1is currently not conpetitive. O her

hospital s are providing bonuses and rai ses above that anmount, as
wel |l as contracting with other firns.

Number 2063

M5. CLARKE reported that the U S. Departnment of Labor also
ranked Alaska seventh anong the states in the need for

additional social workers. She noted that the Division of
Fam |y and Youth Services |ooks to hire highly qualified social
wor ker s. She nentioned a licensing law that cane into effect

| ast summer and continued problens in "retaining and keeping up
with that demand.”

M5. CLARKE told nenbers that during the 2001 anthrax scares and
bioterrorism incidents, the departnment had a 50 percent vacancy
in the mcrobiologist staff in its new public health lab in
Anchor age. For several weeks, the lab director was working 18-
hour days to keep up with specinens that had to be tested. She
said the departnent discovered that many m crobiol ogists could
get positions in other hospitals, or other health fields, and
make $700-800 nore per nonth; although perhaps tenpted by the
state's new facility, they'd earn nore in the private sector.

Nunber 2152

CHAIR COGHI LL asked if the anticipated recruitnent bonus would
be enough to attract people. He indicated M. darke's
reference to an hourly wage and asked if she could foresee the
departnment using the incentive bonuses in retaining enpl oyees.

M5. CLARKE responded that the departnent believes the bonuses
woul d be another tool that would allow it to either recruit or
retain individuals. She stated a need to respond to market
pressure, as well, explaining that bonuses al one would not nake

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -13- February 5, 2002



up for t he af orement i oned sal ary differenti al for
m cr obi ol ogi st s.

Nunber 2199

CHAIR COGH LL indicated the need for ongoing training
mentioning the high-tech world. He also referred to "onward
training” and the need to reward excellence; he asked if that
woul d be consi dered.

M5. CLARKE responded that the departnment currently has the
ability to provide specialized training, which is a tool used to
retain its workforce and nove people on a career | adder. She
said one intention of this plan is to help the departnent
reexam ne how it devel ops career |adders and provides training,
even for enployees in entry-level jobs, so they will stay wth
t he organi zati ons and nove up, rather than | eave.

Number 2320

REPRESENTATI VE STEVENS asked how the norale of an organization
woul d be affected when the enployer gives a new enpl oyee a bonus
to do the sane job that an established enployee is doing already
for | ess noney.

Nunber 2345

M5. CLARKE said that issue would have to be devel oped with the
Per sonnel Board when these prograns are designed. Some
situations exist because of differences between state jobs and
ot her enpl oynent. She said she routinely hears people,
especially in the health care fields, ask why they should stay
[in a state job], even one they like, when they can get paid
nore in a non-governnent position. M. Carke said the question
is why the state can't "react nore quickly to both prograns and
respond to those narket conditions." She concluded that it is
clearly an issue to address with caution.

CHAIR COGHI LL thanked Ms. C arke and noted that she represents
"a section of very large enploynent in very specialty areas."”

Nunber 2419

BRUCE LUDW G Manager , Al aska Publ i c Enpl oyees
Associ ation/ Anerican Federation of Teachers (APEA/ AFT), cane
before the commttee to testify. He said APEA/AFT - which

represents enployees in the state governnment, the university,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -14- February 5, 2002



muni ci palities, boroughs, and school districts - agrees wth
nost of the concepts enbodied in the bill, but disagrees wth
renoving it fromcollective bargaining. He said the association
believes collective bargaining casts light on the process; when
it's excluded from the process, it opens the door to abuse, he
said. He added that the Personnel Board is nmade up of political
appoi ntees, appointed by the governor to serve the governor's
requests and do "what his appointees ask themto do."

MR, LUDWG explained that in collective bargaining, there is a
process called arbitration. If problens arise, there is a
method for having an inpartial third party scrutinize the
probl em and ascertain that everything was executed fairly. He
said APEA/ AFT believes there ought to be recruitnent-retention
bonuses and exceptional-pay bonuses, but the collective
bar gai ni ng process shoul d cover those.

Nunber 2480

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES agreed there is a "huge cavern" between the
bonuses given to people and the collective bargaining process.
She said she is supportive of enployees' being treated properly
- and knows there are unions "specifically with that in mnd" -
but is enbarrassed that a state agency cannot treat people
fairly without a union. Representative Janes clarified that her
intent was not to destroy the union.

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES said even with collective bargaining, this
would be a difficult issue. She suggested the state may need a
process every few years to evaluate the market and the val ue of
] obs. She commented that [the state] has known for nearly ten
years that it's had an "exodus," or "missing ingredient" in its
18- to 44-year-old residents. She nentioned hearing that many
people are ready to retire, but that no replacenents are
avai l able. She opined that part of that is a conplicated issue
in which the legislature nay have participated by focusing on a
single issue, rather than the whole system

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked how the witness would do these types
of incentive bonuses, wthout creating a long process through
the collective bargaining. She expressed her belief that it
woul d not be possible to do so.

Number 2602

MR. LUDW G responded that Wrkplace Al aska is used by the state
to hire people; once a pilot project, it was polished before

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -15- February 5, 2002



being put in place for the whole workforce. He suggested a
simlar situation could exist with pilot projects through the
col l ective bargaining process. He said statutory authority
woul d be needed, and he nentioned nonetary terns and any type of
i ncrease com ng back to the |egislature.

MR LUDWG stated that the difficulty of recruiting and
retaining [enployees] is not wunique to Alaska; the national
union has a task force, "the Recruitnent and Retention Task
Force." As increasing nunbers of baby booners |eave the
wor kf orce, there are fewer people to take their place, he said.
[ The entire country] is conpeting for the sanme people; until
[the state] trains nore people to fill those jobs, it wll be
chasing scarce resources, he concl uded.

Nunmber 2675

REPRESENTATI VE STEVENS asked how the aforenentioned inequities
woul d be addressed regarding giving a bonus to a new enpl oyee to
do a job that the established enployee is already doing for |ess
pay. He al so asked what the state could do about teachers, for
exanpl e, who cone to work for a $10,000 bonus, then |eave the
foll ow ng year - a phenonenon which Representative Stevens said
has occurred in other states.

MR, LUDW G addressed inequity. He said [APEA/ AFT] has had a
difficult time wth the University of Alaska's hiring both
classified enployees and professors for nore noney than the
current enployees are making, which affects productivity and
results in the loss of enployees who |ook el sewhere for work.
He said [the enployer] must proceed wth caution while
mai nt ai ni ng the bal ance of the workforce.

MR LUDWG referred to a previous comment by Representative
Janmes and said there used to be a requirenent that the Division
of Personnel conduct a salary survey every year; that was one of
the first "casualties" in the nid-'80s, when oil was at $8 a

barrel. He indicated he thought it was not in the statutes to
do every year; he nentioned making it a requirenent to [conduct
a survey] every five years. He likened it to doing proper
mai ntenance on a heater, which wll break wi thout that

mai nt enance.

Number 2770

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -16- February 5, 2002



REPRESENTATI VE  STEVENS reiterated his question regarding
retention of enployees. He asked if there would have to be sone
ki nd of agreenent nmade.

MR. LUDWG responded that currently [the state] pays people to
nove [to Alaska] in sone cases. He indicated recruitnent is
done "Qutside" and nentioned a two-year payback provision; he
suggested a bonus simlar to that could be tailored. M. Ludw g

said he knew that, in some places, banks were offering no-
interest loans to teachers to teach in inner-city schools, a
benefit that continues each year. He suggested [ Al aska] m ght

try that. He added that perhaps "sone kind of a hook " could be
put in those enployees so that if they |eave early, they would
have to pay back [the bonus or benefit] received.

Nunmber 2875

CHAIR COGH LL asked how M. Ludwig envisions collective
bargaining as a part of excellence bonuses - pay incentives for
excel | ence.

MR LUDWG replied that APEA/AFT has been offering sonething
simlar for a nunber of years. He offered the follow ng:

When we had this nental health |ands claim deal going
on, we had sone people in the Departnent of Natural
Resources that put a lot of tine and effort into
hel ping figure that out. It wasn't even their job
you know, they did it at night. And we paid them
extra noney through the vehicle of a letter of
agreenent in the collective bargaining process. e
have done that in a couple other instances where
peopl e have done exceptional work.

It recently canme to light that that probably violates
not only the <collective bargaining agreenent, it
probably violates the statute by saying we aren't
comng back to the legislature, because that is the
anendnent to the pay plan

MR. LUDW G indicated APEA/ AFT encourages the legislature to do
sonmething, ensuring that it at |east neshes wth collective
bar gai ni ng.

CHAIR COGHILL offered, "If we exenpt the collective bargaining,

then those types of agreenments wll still be outside of your
ability to do, is how you see it."

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -17- February 5, 2002



MR. LUDW G answered, "If you pass this, yes."
Number 2889

CHAIR COGHI LL asked how M. Ludwig envisions the collective
bargai ni ng process working with regard to retention bonuses.

MR. LUDWG reiterated Representative Stevens' comment about [the
| onered norale of] the rest of the enployees, when one person is
hired for nore noney than other enployees are receiving for the
same wor K. He indicated that by doing so, the enployer is
telling existing enployees they aren't worth as much.

TAPE 02-05, SIDE B
Nunmber 2918

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES nentioned that before her years as a
| egi sl ator, she had challenged the unions to be nore active "in
training, in excellence on the job." She asked M. Ludwig if
the state enployee prograns have any type of workshops,
trai ning, or nmethods of encouragenent that would produce better-
perform ng enpl oyees.

MR. LUDW G answered that he thinks all the collective bargaining
agreenents have provisions in themfor training. In response to
a followup question by Representative Janes regardi ng who woul d
pay for it, he said primarily it would be the state.

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES said she wondered if the unions had any
programthat "paid out of their dues.”

MR. LUDW G answered that he does not believe any of the current
state enpl oyee unions have apprenticeship prograns; the private
sector has them and they work well. He added, "If a contractor
conmes to town, you can go to the hiring hall and you can get
very qualified people.™

MR LUDWG told the comrittee that [APEA/ AFT] has sonething in
its supervisory unit that is part of the contract and is funded
by an appropriation from the legislature for $50,000 a year.
Thr ough a | abor - managenent comittee, APEA/ AFT  provi des
supervisory training to produce bargaining-unit nenbers who are
better supervisors in general.

MR LUDWG noted that APEA/AFT also represents blue-collar
wor kers. The state enploys a | ot of general maintenance people,

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 18- February 5, 2002



he pointed out, not only in state governnment, but also for the
university and the Alaska Housing Finance Corporation. He
suggested it would be nice to have sone type of apprenticeship
program or a partnership with the wuniversity to create a
scheduled training whereby one could excel in boating
mai nt enance, for exanple.

Number 2811

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked M. Ludw g whether his union is just
managi ng grievances regarding wages and fair treatnent, or is
also trying to help its nenbers to be better enpl oyees.

Number 2735

MR, LUDWG replied that any union in the country which has taken
a poll [has discovered that] the nunber-one concern of nenbers
is getting professional training to help them excel in their
j obs. M. Ludwig said, "One of the things that we' ve tossed
around in this training program is creating a nentor program”"
He nentioned private-sector wunions and that, for exanple,
"you're not going to find a better operator than sonebody in the
operators' hiring [hall]." He said, "W just need to get the
public-sector wunions simlar to that, but there are so many
different job classes and so nmany disciplines that you really
run into difficulties.™

REPRESENTATI VE = JAMES expressed her appreciation  of t he
conversation and of M. Ludw g's response.

Nunmber 2698

CHAIR COGHI LL noted that the commttee needed to di scuss whet her
to anend the | anguage in the bill. He asked M. Ludwig: "If it
doesn't get anended, how do you feel you' d be shut out of the
di scussi on?"

MR LUDWG answered that all kinds of situations wll arise
after it becones |aw Whether it's true or not, people are
going to say soneone was hired because of being a friend of the
supervisor or that sonmeone received a bonus because the

supervisor |liked that person better than sonebody else. He
added, "If you don't have sone kind of light on the process,
then it's going to make the process suspect.” He expressed

concern that something with the potential to be good would turn
out ot herw se.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -19- February 5, 2002



Nunber 2651

REPRESENTATI VE FATE referred to testinony regardi ng baby booners
[who are retiring] and the increased need [for workers]; he
indicated the creation of a dichotony. He also referred to
previous testinony about giving bonuses "without that |[|ight
being shed,” which he predicted would result in an escal ated
cost of [running] the state proportionate to the bonuses given

He nmentioned a need to give nore bonuses and the argunent over
whet her those bonuses are given to the right people, for the
ri ght reasons.

Number 2603

REPRESENTATI VE STEVENS said he would be interested in hearing
from state personnel regarding how arbitration woul d be handl ed.

Nunber 2570

CHAIR COGHILL agreed that the same discussion needs to be held
with the adm nistration. He recommended that [HB 361] not be

passed out of committee until a proposed commttee substitute
(CS) was, perhaps, created. He suggested a discussion of nerit
pay would be inportant as well. He asked M. Stewart to conment

on col l ective bargaining.
Nunmber 2516

MR. STEWART responded that the Personnel Board process is a
public process in which bargaining units have al ways
participated, which is sonething that [the division] expects.
Referring to the 200-sone job classes that are experiencing sone
difficulty in recruiting, he asked the conmttee to consider
that a nunber of job classes - many of them on the previously
mentioned list - don't exist solely in one bargaining unit. For
exanpl e, anal yst/progranmer positions exist in the confidential
bargaining unit, the supervisory unit, and the general
government unit. He said, "To have individually bargained
incentive prograns spanning a particular job class would nake
adm nistration of that program conplicated, if not inpossible."
Engineers exist in supervisory and general governnent unit
positions, he added.

MR. STEWART referred to the issue of fairness previously
mentioned by Representative Stevens. He indicated one
suggestion is to consider a referral bonus, an existing option
in certain states whereby current enployees responsible for

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 20- February 5, 2002



bringing a successful candidate for state enploynent - whether
or not that individual is eligible for a recruitnment incentive -
m ght be eligible for a referral incentive. He then stated:

The idea behind this piece of legislation is to
provide agencies with a tool to make up the loss of,
or the failure to conpete successfully for, specific
skill sets. ... Through the board process, through
that open process, and through work groups established
to deal with the specific bargaining unit issues, |
think that the "light" that Representative Fate was
talking about wuld be shed on this process,
continually.

Nunber 2397

CHAIR COGHILL told M. Stewart that regulations would have to be
witten; certainly, the collective bargaining units would be a
part of that discussion. He asked, "Do you see that as part of
the rule making, comng into what the board m ght have to view
as safe criteria for the recruitnent, or criteria for bonuses?”

MR. STEWART answered that the entire regulatory process is
through the board; it has to adopt the regulations, which are
subj ect to public coment.

CHAI R COGHI LL summarized the followng points for the conmttee
to consider. The bill would allow considerable latitude, and
the commttee had not taken a position on that. He noted that
favoritism would have to be addressed. Regardi ng recruitnment
Wi thin the ranks and Qutside recruitnent, he indicated the need
to deal with filling state job vacancies but not ignore those
already in the state workforce. He nentioned criteria for what
is above and beyond a normal work expectation, as well as making
certain that standards for the regular workforce are not set too
| ow - rewardi ng what would, in any other job class, be expected.

Number 2307

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES said she would |ike to know how other
Western states deal with this issue. She offered that in her
experience of witing regulations, she found the public process
fl aned. She concl uded that although she could see the need for
this legislation, she was struggling with how it would work
wi t hout addi ng nore confusion to the process.

Number 2259

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -21- February 5, 2002



REPRESENTATI VE WLSON said she views this as a nationw de
suppl y- and- demand probl em anytinme supply is low and denmand is

great, one has to pay "sonewhere along the line." She offered
that her own town [Wangell] has not received a single inquiry
for an available pharmacist position. She also nentioned

difficulty in getting nurses to cone to her town;, she said
nurses who were recruited were paid $45 an hour and woul dn't
work weekends w thout getting paid overtinme, whereas those

already there had to work every other weekend. Representati ve
Wl son indicated there were noral e problens. She said Al aska
needs to deal with this problem and will need noney to do it,

but she didn't know where the state would get the noney.
Nunmber 2160

CHAIR COGHILL told Representative WIlson there was a zero fiscal
note attached to [HB 361] because "they decided, for a pilot
program they would work within their departnments to work out
whatever retention and excellence bonuses and recruitnent

bonuses. " He indicated there were incentives to work for the
state back in the 1980s; he nentioned changing to a tier system
because of a lack of noney. Chair Coghill opined that the

conmmittee would want to consider a balance in those tiers, to
give incentives when needed and to reduce those incentives when
the need no |onger existed. He agreed having people work [the
sanme job] for different benefits creates conflict.

CHAIR COGHI LL requested that M. Stewart return with answers to
sonme questions he mght have. He al so asked that [Ms. C arke]
| ook at issues that may arise and how the [l egislation] would be
i npl enent ed. He indicated having a collective bargaining
di scussion "is going to be a good one." He asked: "Does the
board process give us a broad enough scope to all agencies
through all the different categories that we'll be dealing wth?
Is that better, or do the collective bargaining units really
have a niche, and can ... that work in certain ways and shoul d
we install it inthis bill?"

CHAIR COGHI LL stated his intention to nove the bill out of
commttee the next tine it was heard. He nentioned incentives
and said even the constitution has a nerit-based system He
remar ked: "Merit pay is a bigger part of where we're going."
[HB 361 was held over.]

Nunber 1970

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -22- February 5, 2002



CHAIR COGHI LL called an at-ease at 9:08 a.m

[ Because of technical difficulties, this portion of the House
State Affairs Standing Committee mnutes was conpiled from | og
notes and the audio recording nmade available from KTOO s Gavel
to Gavel, available on BASIS. There is no blank tape because
the machi ne was on "pause.” No |og nunbers are avail abl e.]

CHAIR COGHI LL called the neeting back to order at 9:12 a.m

HB 344-1 NCREASE DRI VER S LI CENSE FEES

CHAI R COGHI LL announced the next order of business, HOUSE BILL
NO. 344, "An Act increasing fees for driver's |licenses,
instruction permts, and identification cards; and providing for
an effective date.™

LI NDA SYLVESTER, Staff to Representative Pete Kott, Al aska State
Legislature, told the conmttee that Representative Kott is the
chair for House Rules Standing Conmttee, which is sponsoring HB
344. She explained that HB 344 would raise the fees for
driver's licenses by $5, and instruction permts by $10. The
revenues would go into a general fund. The Departnent of Motor
Vehicles (DW) would also seek additional funds to inplenent

"the first-ever overhaul of the driver's |icense format." The
current lamnated license will be converted to a digital |icense
system which will bring Alaska up to the national standards, in

terms of security and fraud prevention.

MS. SYLVESTER noted that Al aska is one of four states that have
not yet switched to the digital |icensing system In the wake
of Septenber 11, 2001, there is a demand to "harden" al
licenses, rather than to create a national ID card, she said.
She |listed other standards that have been set [regarding]
digitalization as follows: appearance, photo file format, and a
readabl e nedi a.

MS. SYLVESTER told the conmttee that the idea [for adopting
digital licensingl] was initiated by DW and by a group called
CHARR [ Cabaret Hotel Restaurant & Retailers Association]. She
explained that the cigarette and alcohol industries carry the
burden of ensuring the [validity] of licenses. The present type
of lamnated |icenses are difficult to read in a bar, she said.

M5. SYLVESTER pointed to exanples of digital |icenses [included

in the commttee packet]. She said that the need for [the ID
checker at a bar] to ook for the date of birth on a Iicense and

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -23- February 5, 2002



calculate the age of the ID holder wll not be necessary,
because underage IDs will be formatted vertically on the card,
i nstead of horizontally.

MARY MARSHBURN, Director, Division of Mtor Vehicles, Departnent
of Adm nistration, told the commttee that HB 344 would provide
the necessary funds for a nuch-needed change to digita

| i censi ng. She said that the four states currently wthout
digital licensing are Al aska, lahoma, Nebraska, and Rhode
| sl and.

M5. MARSHBURN said that the advantages of digital |icenses are
that they are conputer generated, nore difficult to alter, have
machi ne-readabl e data, are enbossed into card stock, and can
incorporate nultiple security features. If sonmeone were to
alter the face of a digital license, the information from that
| icense could still be read by machi ne. Furthernore, a digita

photo of the applicant is taken, which can be sent to |aw
enf or cenent . If a person conmes in to report a lost driver's
| i cense, the departnent can verify that that person is who he or
she is claimng to be. She stated that the biggest [benefit] of
digital licensing [will be to] l|aw enforcenent, which can use
the nedia strip to easily transmt data.

M5. MARSHBURN reiterated that there is support for digital

licensing from industries that sell age-restricted products.
She said that ARBA (Al aska Regional Beverage Association) has
passed a resolution in support of digital Ilicensing and of
raising fees to cover the cost. CHARR had a resolution before

it in the previous week, the result of which had not yet cone to
Ms. Marshburn's attention. The Anchorage Assenbly currently has
a resolution before it, which she said she anticipates wll
pass.

M5. MARSHBURN noted that there are significant benefits to the
public, including greater personal security and protection
against identity theft. Anot her benefit is that a person who
loses an ID while traveling can obtain a duplicate, because the
image is on file.

M5. MARSHBURN said the one-time cost to the departnent for
digital licensing is approximately $500, 000. The increase to
the cost of the driver's license will be $1 per year, a snall
price to pay for security, she said.

M5. MARSHBURN t al ked about the details on the exanple |icenses
depicted on the handout. She reiterated that the |ook of the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 24- February 5, 2002



license for mnors will be significantly different than that of
the license for adults.

M5. MARSHBURN, in response to a question by Chair Coghill, said
that the bar code would nost likely be used on the back of the
Al aska State |icense.

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES asked if there would be any type of device
that could be used by those responsible for checking IDs that
woul d allow themto run the ID through Iike a credit card.

M5. MARSHBURN answered that there are a variety of scanners
avail able that retail establishnments can use to read that data.

REPRESENTATI VE FATE asked a question regarding naking [valid]
changes on a digital license if it were necessary to do so.

CHAI R COGHI LL asked Representative Fate to restate his question,
because it was brought to his attention by the conmttee
secretary that there had been sonme technical difficulty and the
t ape was not recording.

[ The foregoing mnutes on HB 344 were reconstructed fromthe |og
notes and Gavel to Gavel recording. At this point, the
recordi ng begi ns again on Tape 02-05, Side B.]

Nunmber 1917
REPRESENTATI VE FATE restated his question. He asked: If the
| egislature lowered the drinking age - or voting age - for

exanple, how difficult would it be to change that on the
[identification] card? For instance, would a new card have to
be issued, or could the software accept the change?

M5. MARSHBURN replied that the answer would depend specifically
on what the change in the |aw was. Most |ikely, she said, the
i ndi vi dual woul d need a new |icense.

REPRESENTATI VE FATE clarified that he knew the card would
change, but was asking if the conputer program could be
rewitten with the existing software to facilitate that change.

M5. MARSHBURN sai d yes.
REPRESENTATI VE FATE noted that startup costs nentioned by M.

Mar shburn were approxi mtely $500,000, [the anpbunt] he thought
would be in [a fiscal note]. He expl ained that he was | ooking

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -25- February 5, 2002



at costs if changes are made to the system "recognizing that
each card is going to have to be changed."

M5. MARSHBURN said changes to the conputer progranm ng woul d be
mnimal "in terns of cost for work effort."”

Nunber 1817

CHAI R COGHI LL pointed out that the $500,000 is not reflected in
the fiscal note; he asked if that was because changing software
was al ready provided for in [an existing] budget.

M5. MARSHBURN said no, adding, "This is a vehicle for the
revenue to cover the cost." She stated that it was her
understanding that the cost could not be included in the fisca
note because revenues cannot be dedicated. She said the
$500, 000 for the division to do the program would have to be by
budget appropriation in the budget that wll conme before House
Finance Standing Comrittee this year; that would be a separate
action by the | egislature.

CHAIR COGHILL replied that generally, however, a bill that
requires increased spending requires an acconpanying fiscal
not e.

Number 1750
REPRESENTATI VE JAMES of fered remarks regarding the fiscal note:

| understand not being able to have dedicated funds,
and that doesn't necessarily indicate dedicated funds.
It says [that] you' ve got a change in revenues of
$900, 000, and you don't say where the nobney's com ng
from Wll, you say it's $105,000, which is general
fund program receipts, which should be down in that
part, as well. But, up top, you need to know where
that noney's going to go. Are we going to get another
$500, 000 that we can spend for anything we want? O

is there sonething - sone extra cost - we're going to
have to cover? | don't think that means that it's
dedi cat ed.

Nunber 1705

M5. MARSHBURN i ndicated the fiscal note could be changed. She
explained that it had been drafted to avoid to appearance of

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 26- February 5, 2002



dedi cated revenue. She remarked that the bill itself doesn't
speak to digital |icensing.

Nunmber 1693

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES said she thinks fiscal notes are actually
funded separately, and not all of them are covered; therefore,
it is inportant to show the costs of [HB 344] and where that
noney will go.

M5. MARSHBURN t hanked Representative Janes and said, "W'Ill do
that."

Number 1650

CHAIR COGHI LL asked Ms. WMarshburn for the projected cost of
changi ng equi pnent. He asked if it would, indeed, be the
$500, 000.

M5. MARSHBURN answered that the $500,000 is for the project
devel opment as it relates to software: witing it; providing
it; integrating it to the existing systens; interfacing it with

the other users; and witing the programto develop the |icense
to the national standards, in order to facilitate the exchange
of data anong ot her user agencies in Alaska and nationally. M.
Mar shburn noted that the division has an appropriation for
hardware in its capital budget.

Nunber 1591

REPRESENTATIVE WLSON requested «clarification regarding a
segnent of the analysis in the fiscal note that read [original
punctuation provided]:

This bill increases the fees for the original issue
renewal, and duplicates of driver's licenses, and ID
cards by $5. The fee for instruction permts is
i ncreased by $10. The last increase in these fees was
over 10 years ago. The Instruction Permt is valid
for 2 years. Commercial driver's licenses including
school bus permits are not included in the increase.

M5. MARSHBURN repl i ed:

All of the licenses that we issue and all of the
permts that we issue would be converted to digital
so everyone would benefit. W did not include the

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -27- February 5, 2002



commercial driver's |icense because that program fee
was established in "92 or '93 and is a relatively
recent fee. It's $100 for the license itself and, on
top of that, it's an additional $25 for the road test.

Post - Sept enber 11th, there have been sone federal |aw

changes which will pass down an additional fee of $100
- not through the Dw, but through sone extra
background checks that we wll have to [ensure that]

t hese people go through, but an additional $100 that
commercial drivers are going to have to pay for the
addi ti onal background check, vis-a-vis recent changes
in federal |aw

We felt that that cost - basically $200 to $225 for a
commercial driver's license - was sufficient. If we
| ook at the nunbers of commercial driver's licenses in
Al aska, that is a smaller percentage; the najority of
our licenses are the class D licenses - what we call
"regular” licenses - and so we didn't include the
comercial drivers; they're carrying a pretty hefty
burden al r eady.

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON sai d she thought that was a "good call.™
Nunmber 1475

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES nentioned recent probl enms  of peopl e
boar di ng pl anes. She said she has been advocating that people
volunteer to carry an ID card that has a background check and
"those kinds of things,"” and therefore the traveler wouldn't be
patted down [in airport security]. She asked Ms. Marshburn, if
that were allowed, whether it could be incorporated into the
current driver's license or would nean carrying a separate one.

M5. MARSHBURN said she could not give a definite answer, but
sai d the background checks are conducted by DW. She noted that
| egislation would be necessary, and the Federal Aviation
Adm ni stration (FAA) would probably be the approving agency for
sonething |ike that.

Nunmber 1385

CHAIR COGHI LL opined that tricky questions cone up wth the
subject of national identification. He said, "This doesn't
become a national ID card, but it certainly is a national

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 28- February 5, 2002



identifier." He nentioned digitizing and that privacy is
becom ng a bigger issue.

Nunber 1362

REPRESENTATI VE FATE asked if the renewal dates on |licenses would
carry over in digital form

M5. MARSHBURN said that's correct. A person's |icense would be
converted when it was up for renewal.

Nunber 1346

REPRESENTATI VE HAYES asked what security measures were in place
to prevent a [conputer] hacker, for instance, from [forging a
| i cense].

M5. MARSHBURN answered that the state security system has a
nunber of |laws and security neasures in place already. She said
[DW' s] data and databases, as well as that of the state
troopers, require very high security; that won't change with a
digital license.

Nunmber 1288

REPRESENTATI VE HAYES pointed out that the mlitary also has
those neasures, but there still are hackers capable of breaking
into a system no natter how good it is.

M5. MARSHBURN agreed; however, she nentioned |ayers of security
within the state's mainfrane conputer. Wthin the agency, she
noted, the followng security neasures are used: pat chwor k,
audit trails, auditing of conputer use, and built-in alarns and
nonitors. Al t hough not fool proof or failsafe, those neasures
are in place and wouldn't change wth a digital system

Nunber 1214

MARK VEW Deput y Chi ef, Anchor age Pol i ce Depart ment ,
Municipality of Anchorage, testified via teleconference. He
told the commttee he would talk about what digital I|icensing
would do for law enforcenent, in general, but also specifically

for the Anchorage Police Departnent.

MR MEW referred to Ms. Marshburn's testinony and said that two
i medi ate advantages of wusing the new l|licenses would be that

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -29- February 5, 2002



they are nore difficult to forge and they [nake it easier to]
determ ne age; both are useful to the police departnent.

MR. MEW explained that a benefit of digital photographs that
neet the national standard would be the ability to use them for
i nvestigative purposes in a photo |ineup. Police currently use

photos, rather than "live" |ineups. Furthernore, there is case
law requiring that |ineups use people with simlar hairstyles
and facial features, for exanple. The police have access to

di gital photograph banks, from which they can choose the best
| ineup of photos; however, M. Mw noted, [Alaska's] photos
don't jibe wth those from other states.

Nunmber 1014

MR. MEW brought up the subject of new technology in Anchorage,
through the nobile data project, that he hopes wll be
operational by the sumer of 2002. The project involves
providing |laptop [conputers] in all patrol cars that comunicate
by radio frequency to headquarters, he expl ai ned. I t

facilitates witing of police reports, transmttal of data, and
downl oading into the police system and state system wth "very
little human intervention."” He nentioned «crimnal-history
checks, automatic vehicle |ocation checks, and real-tine checks
in the patrol car by the officer.

MR. MEW explained the twofold use of the driver's |licenses.
Regarding data-entry capacity, currently officers handwite
tickets and accident reports, for exanple. Most information

used in those reports cones right off of the driver's license.
However, nunbers may be transposed, and people's nanes may be
entered in several ways. For exanple, soneone could wite the
nane Del Smth, while soneone two days |ater mght wite Del bert
Smth, and soneone else could wite Delbert J. Smth. That data
must be cleaned up, he said, because the departnent does not
want that person showing up in the database as three different
i ndi vi dual s.

MR. MEW explained that if that person's card were scanned each
time with the same nane, date of birth, and driver's license
nunber, then the information wouldn't require correction |ater
These corrections create expense for the departnent. Wrse yet,
incorrect information nmay get passed on to the district
attorney, the court, or [the Departnment of] Corrections, thereby
creating nelee in all of the systens.

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 30- February 5, 2002



MR. MEW said he would like to see Ms. Marshburn's system updat ed
to fit in with the digitization. He said the aforenentioned
exanple could be avoided by "utilizing licenses such as we're
di scussing now. " He concluded that the advantages to [the
police force] are great in terns of officer time "upfront”;
quality of data; and clerical tinme "downstream"™ in terns of
housekeeping in the system

Nunber 0742

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES, following up a previous question by
Representative Hayes, asked how other people are Kkept from
intercepting [information in] the system

MR MEW answered that there are new Federal Bureau of
I nvestigation (FBI) standards for security on any system that
interfaces with the National Crine Information Center (NCIC) or
any state system authorized by NCC, which would include the
Al aska Public Safety Information Network (APSIN). He offered
that those standards would involve 128-bit encryption and
"certain other protocols"” that would make it nearly inpossible
to nmonitor and deci pher.

MR MEWsaid [the police departnment] has to pass audits in order
to utilize the system whether it's by radio or hard-1ine. He
remnded the committee that this is not top-secret, classified
information; there are ways for the public to get the sane
information if they to go through "the right channels.”

Nunmber 0618

REPRESENTATI VE CRAWORD expressed fear that the country is
noving toward "a national passport system"™ He stated that one
basic tenet of [the constitution] is the right to be |left alone.
He voiced concern about how nuch information such as nedical
information could be put on the barcode [of a driver's license,
or other type of ID card]. It could be used as a national
tracki ng system under which people would be required to give
their licenses to the checker at the grocery store or any other
pl ace they went, he warned.

Number 0500
MR. MEW responded that perhaps Ms. Marshburn shoul d address that

concern, because the police wouldn't have anything to do wth
what information is put on the card. He added that the focus of

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -31- February 5, 2002



[the police departnment] is to be able to utilize the sane
information already on the card, but in a nore efficient manner.

Nunber 0475

CHAIR COGHI LL told M. Mew he thought he'd done a good job of
explaining the benefits of a consistent, expedient system and
how the wupgrade of technology inproves the exchange of
i nformation. He announced that his intention was not to nove
the bill out of commttee until the fiscal note was received.
He suggested further subjects for discussion regarding HB 344
may i nclude nonetary anounts and the concerns expressed.

Number 0359

DEL SM TH, Deputy Comm ssioner, Ofice of the Conmm ssioner,
Department of Public Safety (DPS), said he has been talking
about digital licensing since he held Deputy Mew s position in
1987. He said he thinks it was then that a denonstration by DW
was hel d, which he attended.

MR. SM TH noted that although the bill's focus is raising fees,
he wouldn't be addressing that. He reiterated M. MWSs
comments regarding |law enforcenent's ability to make substanti al
use of information that is currently, by statute, on the face of
a driver's license, through the wuse of barcodes. He told
commttee menbers he appreciated the concern regarding sone of
the information that could potentially go into a card, but said
his present interest is information on the face of the license
that is currently required by statute.

MR SMTH indicated that although the Alaska State Troopers
could see a wuse for "in-car termnals" in the Fairbanks,
Mat anuska- Susitna, and Anchorage areas in the not-too-distant
future, it has no plan in place to use them throughout the
state, because of the "far-flung reaches" that are patrolled.
Considering the short-term applications, he said, he thinks
digital licensing would be beneficial to |law enforcenent for
many reasons, including, as M. Mw nentioned, interfacing on a
national |evel.

MR SMTH noted that there is encryption for "across-the-air
transm ssions.” He expressed certainty that standards wll need
to be net for NCIC 2000. He explained that NCIC is the database
that one checks for "wants" or warrants nationally, or for
information regarding stolen property; NCIC 2000 is "just the
| at est pernutation,” whereas he believes the original center has

HOUSE STA COW TTEE -32- February 5, 2002



been in existence since sonetinme in the 1970s. The DPS, |aw
enforcement, and the Alaska Association of Chiefs of Police
support the nove to a digital license, he said, to increase
security and help determne who should be buying alcohol or
cigarettes.

Nunmber 0096

MR SMTH, in response to an earlier comrent by Representative
Janes, said he thinks the potential exists for having a card
that could be put through a scanner at an airport security
checkpoi nt for those who voluntarily have ©provided the
information; it could involve a photo ID and verification of who
it is. He recalled hearing on the news of a plan to allow
frequent travelers to go through a special I|ine; however, he
poi nted out, that causes concern [by other travelers] when sone
peopl e go through a shorter Iline.

Number 0020

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES, reevaluating her previous concerns about
the fiscal note, indicated the current fiscal note probably is
correct because "nothing in this piece of legislation
authorizes themto go do anything; actually, it just raises the
rate.”

TAPE 02-06, SIDE A

Number 0026

REPRESENTATI VE JAMES remarked that the coment regar di ng
encryption did not nmake her feel "100 percent confortable"
because, as Representative Hayes stated, there are people
[ capabl e of hacking into a systenm. She stated the necessity of

novi ng forward and becom ng smarter than those people.
Nunber 0068

MR. SM TH noted that when he first began work involving driver's
licenses in 1968, they were namde of paper and partially filled

out by hand. He said the current driver's license is still easy
to change; therefore, using a secure, digitally produced
[license] makes sense. He nentioned people's concerns and the

resulting renmoval by the legislature of the social security
nunber .

Nunber 0142

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 33- February 5, 2002



REPRESENTATI VE JAMES conveyed her concern that [the barcode]
should only provide the information that is on the face of [the
| i cense].

M5. MARSHBURN confirmed that the only information in the barcode
woul d be that which is on the face of the |icense.

CHAIR COGHI LL expressed shock at discovering the anmount of
information a person can find on the Internet about other
peopl e.

Number 0235

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON asked, with this new digital system what
the inplications are wth regard to FBlI requirenents and
security as it interfaces wth passports and international
travel, for instance.

Nunmber 0286
MR SM TH answer ed:

Technology is mnd-boggling to nme and changes every
day. | believe it potentially can be done by |inking
t hem Right now, | would assune that Deputy Chief
Mew s officers have an in-car termnal they can sw pe,
that they can inquire against the Alaska Public Safety
Information Network to determne if there's any

"want s" or warrants  or "l ocat es” out for an
i ndi vi dual . It also would, presumably, determ ne
whether or not there are any national "wants" or
warrants for the individual. It depends upon the

| i nkages that NCIC does, then, out to other agencies
about whether or not you would want to check passport
status, citizenry status - those kinds of things.

There certainly is a lot of potential to gather a |ot
of information about an individual fairly quickly,

whi ch, I believe was Representative Crawford's
concern. It is out there, but electronically it is
able to be consolidated, which I think is a concern to
nost peopl e. But | think, technologically, what
you' re asking: yes, it could be done, the sane as
swping it at the airport, | assune, if you did one

agai nst the national databases.

Number 0380

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 34- February 5, 2002



CHAI R COGHI LL acknow edged this subject of concern, but returned
attention to the focus of the bill, to raise the fees. The
policy call, he said, would be whether [the commttee] would
vote to waive the fees; he also nentioned the connection wth
the fiscal note. He asked Ms. Marshburn if she wanted to nake
any | ast comments.

M5. MARSHBURN deferred to M. Mw to address concern expressed
about the transm ssion of data.

Nunber 0524

MR. MEW rem nded nmenbers that the data under discussion is
currently going out over radio for everyone to hear; nanes,
driver's license nunbers, and identifying features are radioed
back and forth between any officer conducting a records check
and the dispatcher. Switching to digital [licensing] wll nake
this nearly inpossible to nonitor, he noted.

CHAIR COGHI LL said he appreciated that. He announced that HB
344 woul d be held over.

ADJ QURNVENT
Nunmber 0611
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Conmttee neeting was adjourned at 10:04
a. m

HOUSE STA COW TTEE - 35- February 5, 2002



